
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH  03431 

(603) 352-5440
KeeneNH.gov

Congregate Living & Social Services Licensing Board 
Tuesday, September 23, 2025, 6:00 PM 

Council Chambers, 2nd fl of City Hall, 3 Washington St. 

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order:   Roll Call

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting:   May 27, 2025

III. Unfinished Business:

IV. Applications:

CLSS-2025-17: Applicant, for Beth Daniels, Executive Director for Southworth Community Services,
is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social Services License for a homeless shelter, located
at 139 Roxbury St., and is in the High Density District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the
Keene City Ordinances.

CLSS-2025-18: Applicant, for Beth Daniels, Executive Director for Southworth Community Services,
is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social Services License for a homeless shelter, located
at 32 Water St., and is in the Downtown Transition District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of
the Keene City Ordinances.

V. New Business:

VI. Adjournment:

~< COMMUNITY 
~ DEVELOPMENT 



Page intentionally left blank



DRAFT 

Page 1 of 16 

 

City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

 3 

 4 

CONGREGATE LIVING AND SOCIAL SERVICES LICENSING BOARD 5 

MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 

Tuesday, May 27, 2025 6:00 PM 2nd Floor Conference Room, 

City Hall 

Members Present: 

Andrew Oram, Chair 

Medard Kopczynski, Vice Chair  

Alison Welsh 

Tom Savastano 

 

Members Not Present: 

Jennifer Seher 

 

Staff Present: 

Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official   

Paul Andrus, Community Development 

Director  

I. Call to Order: Roll Call 8 

 9 

Chair Oram called the meeting to order at 6:01 PM.  10 

 11 

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting: March 25, 2025 12 

 13 

A motion by Mr. Kopczynski to adopt the March 25, 2025 minutes as presented was duly 14 

seconded by Ms. Welsh and the motion carried unanimously.  15 

 16 

III. Unfinished Business: 17 

A) CLSS-2025-05, American House Keene, has paid their application fee and their 18 

license has been issued 19 

 20 

Mr. Wood reported that American House Keene paid its outstanding application fee, so the 21 

license was issued, and he said there were no other remaining issues.  22 

 23 

IV. Applications: 24 

 25 

Ms. Welsh reported that because of her overseeing the Cheshire County Behavioral Health Court 26 

and the Treatment Court, people from all her programs used the services of Emerald House, 27 

Monadnock Peer Support, Keene Serenity Center, and Live Free Recovery. However, she stated 28 

no pecuniary interest or benefit/gain from these services. Mr. Savastano also alerted the Board 29 

that he had donated to House of Hope in the past but was in no way involved with the 30 

organization. Vice Chair Kopczynski explained to the public that Board members were reporting 31 

potential conflicts of interest, which is a standard in City government. Upon disclosure, if 32 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 2 of 16 
 

members felt it was needed, the Board would vote to determine whether financial conflicts 33 

existed, and the members should be recused from voting on the application.  34 

A) Continued CLSS-2025-02: Applicant, Patricia Forman, House Supervisor for 35 

Emerald House, is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social Services 36 

License for a Residential Care Facility, located 32 Emerald St., that is in the 37 

Downtown Growth District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the 38 

Keene City Ordinances. 39 

 40 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and requested staff comments. Rick Wood, Fire 41 

Marshal/Building Official, reported that Property & Housing Standard, Fire Department, and 42 

Police Department Inspections all occurred on February 4, 2025, with no comments rendered. 43 

So, staff had no issues with renewal. When the staff report was completed for the previous 44 

meeting, it listed the application fee as incomplete, but Mr. Wood said it had been paid since, so 45 

that was an old note.  46 

 47 

Chair Oram welcomed the applicant Patricia Forman, Residential Services Manager for 48 

Monadnock Family Services, who oversees Emerald House. Ms. Forman had nothing to add to 49 

the application.   50 

 51 

Chair Oram opened the floor to public comments and heard none.  52 

 53 

Ms. Welsh felt like the Neighborhood Plan could have been more detailed and recalled 54 

discussing it in the past. She wondered if Ms. Forman had reviewed or added to it, asking what 55 

the organization did to have a great relationship with neighbors and the surrounding area. Ms. 56 

Forman said no, the Neighborhood Plan has not changed because as stated in the Plan, the nature 57 

of the residence is that people cannot come onto the property for events. However, she said 58 

clients go to Brewbakers or Toadstool, for example, the latter of which one client had a job at. 59 

She said clients had wonderful relationships with people at businesses all around them, like 60 

Puggy’s, noting the absence of other residences around this property.   61 

 62 

Ms. Welsh asked if there had been any significant Police reports for the area. Mr. Wood said the 63 

Police Lieutenant reported no concerns with this property.  64 

 65 

Vice Chair Kopczynski recalled this Board places a great deal of emphasis on discussions with 66 

the public and neighbors. So, he said this conversation about outreach was extremely important. 67 

He said because clients do not talk to anybody it probably did not seem necessary to plan, but 68 

they created a Plan for this reason. He noted Puggy’s would not be there much longer. The Vice 69 

Chair asked if staff were in regular contact with neighbors and Ms. Forman said no. Vice Chair 70 

Kopczynski asked if they had tried. Ms. Forman replied no. The Vice Chair said to give it some 71 

thought. Ms. Forman asked him to expand on what he meant. Vice Chair Kopczynski explained 72 

it is always helpful to gain as much support and education as you can in any business or any 73 

operation, so the more communication with your direct neighbors to find out inadvertently 74 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 3 of 16 
 

something they could do differently might improve neighborhood relationships. He said if you 75 

never talk, you never know. 76 

 77 

Chair Oram closed the Public Hearing.  78 

 79 

Having been familiar with this operation for many years and the clients of this residence––not in 80 

a negative way––Vice Chair Kopczynski stated he thought he would probably hear from the 81 

neighbors if there were problems. He said that was not the point of his suggestions, rather how to 82 

enrich the neighborhood, which Ms. Forman said she appreciated.  83 

 84 

Ms. Welsh echoed Vice Chair Kopczynski, calling this a great service to the community that Ms. 85 

Welsh appreciated, stating she had some complex clients do really well at Emerald House. 86 

 87 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  88 

 89 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 90 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 91 

 92 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 93 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 94 

codes. 95 

 96 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 97 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  98 

 99 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 100 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 101 

 102 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Ms. 103 

Welsh and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  104 

 105 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 106 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 107 

 108 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 109 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  110 

 111 

A motion by Ms. Welsh was duly seconded by Vice Chair Kopczynski to approve CLSS-2025-112 

02 for Monadnock Family Services DBA Emerald House to operate a Residential Care Facility 113 

located at 32 Emerald Street. The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 114 

 115 

B) Continued CLSS-2025-13: Applicant, Karen Richi, Administrative Director 116 

for Monadnock Peer Support, is requesting a Congregate Living & Social 117 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 4 of 16 
 

Services License for a Small Group Home, located at 24 Vernon St., and is in 118 

the Downtown Core District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the 119 

Keene City Ordinances. 120 

 121 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed the applicant, Karen Richi, Administrative 122 

Director for Monadnock Peer Support. Ms. Richi reported that the only change was the building 123 

undergoing renovation and there was a building permit for this work. Additionally, their 124 

Executive Director had departed, and Sheriff Eli Rivera was serving as Interim Executive 125 

Director.  126 

 127 

Chair Oram requested staff comments. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official, noted 128 

because the Executive Director left there was a discrepancy between his name (Steven) listed in 129 

the application and Ms. Richi’s name in the minutes. Mr. Wood also reported that both Building 130 

and Fire Departments were overseeing a current building project at this property, stating that the 131 

applicant had been very diligent to ensure proper safety was in place throughout the process. Mr. 132 

Wood reported a couple of minor items in the Fire Inspection report that were all resolved, so 133 

there were no outstanding issues. He said staff supported the application, especially with the 134 

improvements and ADA access.  135 

 136 

Vice Chair Kopczynski asked if staff would reinspect building safety after construction. Mr. 137 

Wood said yes. He explained the two elements of this project: (1) accessibility – moving the 138 

main entrance to grade level and a limited-use/limited-application (LU/LA) lift for 2nd floor 139 

access, and (2) moving the residential spaces from one area to another, which he said was 140 

already built-out but pending the final move. Both Fire and Building Inspections would reoccur 141 

before the applicant would be allowed to make use of those spaces.  142 

 143 

Ms. Welsh asked if the number of beds would change with the remodel and Ms. Richi said no.  144 

 145 

Vice Chair Kopczynski asked if the applicant made any changes to their outreach efforts. Ms. 146 

Richi said there was currently a plan in place to meet with all neighbors quarterly by hand 147 

delivering letters and inviting them to lunch to talk about issues that arise. Vice Chair 148 

Kopczynski asked if it worked well. Ms. Richi said yes, and the next lunches were planned for 149 

September 2025. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official, said he meant to bring one of the 150 

letters, as the Fire Department is a direct abutter and receives them regularly. The last letter was 151 

advising neighbors about the upcoming construction project, and they appreciated that kind of 152 

outreach.  153 

 154 

Ms. Welsh recalled incidents with Police reports in 2024 and asked if those were resolved as 155 

well. Mr. Wood said yes, the Police Lieutenant reported no concerns with this renewal.  156 

 157 

Ms. Welsh wanted to once again add that Monadnock Peer Support provided case management 158 

and step-up/step-down programs that had been hugely beneficial for the community and for her 159 

programs too. So, she was appreciative.  160 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 5 of 16 
 

Knowing his role, Sheriff Rivera said he would not have added to his busy schedule and stepped 161 

into this central position if he did not believe in this organization. He wanted to ensure the 162 

organization would be successful in its mission to support the community.  163 

 164 

Chair Oram closed the Public Hearing.  165 

 166 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  167 

 168 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 169 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 170 

 171 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 172 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 173 

codes. 174 

 175 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Ms. 176 

Welsh and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  177 

 178 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 179 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 180 

 181 

A motion by Ms. Welsh to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 182 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  183 

 184 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 185 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 186 

 187 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 188 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  189 

 190 

A motion by Mr. Savastano was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh to approve CLSS-2025-13 for 191 

Monadnock Peer Support to operate a Small Group Home Facility located at 24 Vernon Street. 192 

The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  193 

 194 

C) Continued CLSS-2025-14: Applicant, Samuel Lake, Executive Director for 195 

Keene Serenity Center, is requesting a Congregate Living & Social Services 196 

License for a Group Resource Center, located at 24 Vernon St., and is in the 197 

Downtown Core District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the Keene 198 

City Ordinances. 199 

 200 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed the applicant, Samuel Lake, Executive 201 

Director of the Keene Serenity Center. He reported no major changes to the application. He 202 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 6 of 16 
 

noted that current renter and previous applicant, Monadnock Peer Support, operated on the same 203 

property.  204 

 205 

There were no public comments.  206 

 207 

Vice Chair Kopczynski knew the applicant had outreached to neighbors, their landlords, and the 208 

City, with Mr. Wood noting staff had been there to discuss the construction. The Vice Chair 209 

noted new business neighbors, for example. He remembered some past chatter from neighbors 210 

that he thought was rectified by the Neighborhood Relations Plan and asked how that was going.  211 

Mr. Lake reported no news on outreach. He said the past experience Vice Chair Kopczynski 212 

mentioned was ultimately a good one because it forced a public interaction and discussion. He 213 

said they had kept the door open since for the organizations that commented the year prior; they 214 

had his personal email and phone number. Additionally, Mr. Lake said he regularly walked 215 

around the community with Serenity Center clients wearing vests to clean up trash, etc., and 216 

meet their neighbors. He participates in Monadnock Peer Support’s quarterly meetings and the 217 

Community Kitchen’s many public forums. So, Mr. Lake said they were participating in the 218 

community as much as possible. Vice Chair Kopczynski said that it was important for him to 219 

hear because the Serenity Center is so central in the area and the neighborhood was developing 220 

around it in the positive. So, he thought outreach––especially through the Community Kitchen—221 

would be vital, especially with significant changes coming in the downtown.  222 

 223 

Ms. Welsh asked if the minor items listed on the February 2025 inspections were rectified. Rick 224 

Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official, clarified at the time of Fire Inspection they did not have 225 

the most recent fire alarm test report, which was administrative paperwork. It was all rectified at 226 

this point.  227 

 228 

Ms. Welsh stated her appreciation for the Serenity Center’s work because they transported a lot 229 

of her clients and provided many other services, groups, and benefits. She was grateful for all 230 

they had done for the community.  231 

 232 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  233 

 234 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 235 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 236 

 237 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 238 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 239 

codes. 240 

 241 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 242 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  243 

 244 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 7 of 16 
 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 245 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 246 

 247 

A motion by Ms. Welsh to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 248 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  249 

 250 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 251 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 252 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Ms. 253 

Welsh and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 254 

A motion by Ms. Welsh was duly seconded by Vice Chair Kopczynski to approve CLSS-2025-255 

14 for Keene Serenity Center to operate a Group Resource Center Facility located at 24 Vernon 256 

Street. The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 257 

 258 

D) CLSS-2025-10: Applicant, Phyllis Phelps, Executive Director for House of 259 

Hope, is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social Services License 260 

for a Large Group Home, located at 31 Wyman Rd., and is in the Rural 261 

District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the Keene City 262 

Ordinances. 263 

 264 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed the applicant Phyllis Phelps, Executive 265 

Director for House of Hope. Ms. Phelps noted one change that they converted the office into a 266 

bedroom with two beds for better accessibility, avoiding the stairs; it did not change their number 267 

of beds, and they installed a smoke detector in room.  268 

 269 

Chair Oram requested staff comments. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official, reported that 270 

inspections were completed on March 4, 2025, with a few minor notes from the Fire Department 271 

that had all been rectified.  272 

 273 

Ms. Welsh clarified that there were still 12 beds, but two were moved for accessibility purposes, 274 

and asked if that area was now ADA compliant. Mr. Wood said it would not necessarily make 275 

the whole facility ADA compliant, but they were trying to become more accessible. Without 276 

construction taking place there would not necessarily need to be structural changes.  277 

 278 

There were no public comments.  279 

 280 

Vice Chair Kopczynski noted this facility is isolated from neighbors, with the nearest being the 281 

Retirement Center. So, with the nature of House of Hope’s business, Vice Chair Kopczynski 282 

asked if there was potential for interplay. Ms. Phelps said yes, with one of the elderly teaching 283 

the ladies line dancing, for example, and they invite the women for shows; she called them good 284 

neighbors with a lot of wisdom to tap into.  285 

 286 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  287 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 8 of 16 
 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 288 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 289 

 290 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 291 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 292 

codes. 293 

 294 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Mr. 295 

Savastano and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  296 

 297 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 298 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 299 

 300 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 301 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  302 

 303 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 304 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 305 

 306 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Mr. 307 

Savastano and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  308 

 309 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski was duly seconded by Mr. Savastano to approve CLSS-310 

2025-10 for House of Hope NH Inc. to operate a Large Group Home Facility located at 31 311 

Wyman Road. The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 312 

 313 

E) CLSS-2025-11: Applicant, Jen Houston, Executive Director for Live Free 314 

Recovery Services, is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social 315 

Services License for a Large Group Home, located at 361 Court St., and is in 316 

the Medium Density District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the 317 

Keene City Ordinances. 318 

 319 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed Evan Johns on behalf of the applicant, Jen 320 

Houston, Executive Director for Live Free Recovery Services. Mr. Johns had nothing to add to 321 

the application.  322 

 323 

Ms. Welsh asked City staff if the facility had been inspected. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building 324 

Official, said yes. He also recalled a question about the Food License, which was updated. The 325 

only remaining question was a note about missing laundry room floor tiles. Mr. Johns replied 326 

that he had current photos, and it was his understanding Ms. Houston submitted them. Mr. Wood 327 

asked if the work was completed and Mr. Johns confirmed. Mr. Wood said he would have the 328 

Community Development Department reach out to resolve it. Lastly, Mr. Wood noted the Fire 329 

Inspection had minor notes that had also been rectified.   330 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 9 of 16 
 

There were no public comments.  331 

 332 

Vice Chair Kopczynski noted that in the past, neighbors actually came and testified about this 333 

application/organization, which was not the case in this instance, and he was surprised. However, 334 

he noted how well Live Free Recovery Services had done with outreach, with the Board 335 

modeling its conversations on how well it had been accepted in the community. The Vice Chair 336 

asked if that was still the case. Mr. Johns said as far as he knew. Specifically for the 361 Court 337 

Street property, he said the House Manager had a great relationship with the neighbors and 338 

would communicate on a regular basis if needed. He said if there had been a complaint, he would 339 

have heard about it. He was grateful to hear that people would come and testify positively on 340 

behalf of the organization, which was a smaller one in Keene always trying to expand. Mr. Johns 341 

said outreach was still the same, with direct phone numbers for supervisors in the area; they try 342 

to deal with issues in the moment. Additionally, they have an outreach team, with individuals 343 

assigned to certain local organizations.  344 

 345 

Ms. Welsh corrected the application date typed next to the signatures that listed 2020 (page 75). 346 

Mr. Wood noted that on the previous application it was a two-digit year input field and staff 347 

would try to rectify it.  348 

 349 

Chair Oram recalled that each resident at the 361 Court Street location was required to sign a 350 

code of conduct about their responsibilities, including a substantial section on behavior and 351 

relationships with neighbors. Mr. Johns said yes, everyone goes through an intake process when 352 

they review those program rules to respect oneself, their peers, and their neighbors. The Chair 353 

recalled the code of conduct being quite thorough and well written, saying it sets a tone. Mr. 354 

Savastano asked who reviews it with the clients. Mr. Johns said whoever is on shift, it could be 355 

the House Manager or other staff person on first or second shift; they always try to do it before 356 

4:00 PM. Mr. Savastano asked if the document is physically placed in front of individuals to read 357 

and sign. Mr. Johns said yes. Mr. Savastano agreed that it was a very well written document. 358 

 359 

Ms. Welsh added her appreciation of Live Free Recovery’s varied levels of care and her hope for 360 

a woman’s sober living facility. Ms. Johns agreed, noting the overwhelming need.  361 

 362 

There were no public comments.  363 

 364 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  365 

 366 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 367 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 368 

 369 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 370 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 371 

codes. 372 

 373 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 10 of 16 
 

A motion by Ms. Welsh to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 374 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  375 

 376 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 377 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 378 

 379 

A motion by Vice Chair Kopczynski to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Ms. 380 

Welsh and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  381 

 382 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 383 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 384 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Vice Chair 385 

Kopczynski and the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  386 

 387 

A motion by Ms. Welsh was duly seconded by Vice Chair Kopczynski to approve CLSS-2025-388 

11 for Live Free Recovery Services to operate a Large Group Home Facility located at 361 Court 389 

Street. The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 390 

 391 

F) CLSS-2025-12: Applicant, Jen Houston, Executive Director for Live Free 392 

Recovery Services, is requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social 393 

Services License for a Large Group Home, located at 26 Water St., and is in 394 

the Downtown Transition District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of 395 

the Keene City Ordinances. 396 

 397 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed Evan Johns on behalf of the applicant, Jen 398 

Houston, Executive Director for Live Free Recovery Services. Mr. Johns had nothing to add to 399 

the application.  400 

 401 

Ms. Welsh corrected the application date typed next to the signatures that listed 2020 (page 75). 402 

Mr. Wood noted that on the previous application it was a two-digit year input field and staff 403 

would try to rectify it.  404 

 405 

Mr. Savastano pointed out a discrepancy on the staff report. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building 406 

Official, agreed and apologized, noting the staff report listed a different location but had Ms. 407 

Houston’s name and all the other information pertaining to this particular facility. Under the 408 

“Request” tab, there was reference to a different property, but in fact the top of the page/report 409 

correctly listed this property, 26 Water Street.  410 

 411 

Chair Oram asked for other staff comments. Mr. Wood said there were no other concerns. 412 

Having visited the facility personally, he called it very well done. There had only been minor 413 

notes from the Property & Housing Inspection about treading on stairs to the basement that 414 

needed replacement and from the Fire Inspection for the fire alarm and sprinkler, which was 415 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 11 of 16 
 

typical. Mr. Johns reported the stairs were completely replaced. Mr. Wood said in his experience 416 

the applicant had been very responsive to anything the City brought to them.  417 

 418 

Ms. Welsh was very appreciative Keene had a well-run sober living facility. She had clients who 419 

lived there prior to Live Free Recovery’s ownership.  420 

 421 

Vice Chair Kopczynski noted the constrained location of this facility, citing farms, a restaurant, 422 

the entryway to the Post Office, a home, and a shelter––on the other side of which the Vice Chair 423 

thought there might be a fraternity house from the signs of parties and beer cans. Vice Chair 424 

Kopczynski said 26 Water Street was well-run within that context but asked how it actually 425 

accommodated all of those neighbors with unique interests, noting it might be a rhetorical 426 

question. Mr. Johns did not have a specific answer, recalling that all Live Free Recovery 427 

programs have an Outreach Coordinator; he thought house managers communicate with those 428 

coordinators. Vice Chair Kopczynski thought some of the uses surrounding this property might 429 

be challenging for the residents (e.g., Cumberland Farms or large parties) and wondered how the 430 

House Manager actually accommodated that. Chair Oram asked Mr. Johns to have Ms. Houston 431 

address it during application renewal in 2026.  432 

 433 

Chair Oram closed the Public Hearing.  434 

 435 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  436 

 437 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 438 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 439 

 440 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 441 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 442 

codes. 443 

 444 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 445 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  446 

 447 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 448 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 449 

 450 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 451 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  452 

 453 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 454 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 455 

 456 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 457 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  458 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 12 of 16 
 

A motion by Mr. Savastano was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh to approve CLSS-2025-12 for 459 

Live Free Recovery Services LLC to operate a Large Group Home Facility located at 26 Water 460 

Street. The motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 461 

 462 

G) CLSS-2025-15: Applicant, Lesli Suggs, President & CEO for Unity House, is 463 

requesting a renewal Congregate Living & Social Services License for a 464 

Small Group Home, located at 39 Summer St. and is in the Downtown 465 

Transition District and as defined in Chapter 46, Article X of the Keene City 466 

Ordinances. 467 

 468 

Chair Oram opened the Public Hearing and welcomed the applicant’s representatives: Matthew 469 

McCollum, Vice President of Community Programs for The Home for Little Wanderers, & 470 

Austin Naomi, Community Director.   471 

 472 

Chair Oram requested staff comments. Rick Wood, Fire Marshal/Building Official, reported the 473 

Property & Housing, Fire Department, and Police Department Inspections all occurred on March 474 

4, 2025. There was only one Property Standards comments regarding a secured window that 475 

needed to be unsecured again for ventilation purposes. Mr. Wood reported that this would be the 476 

second renewal for this property and the application was complete. Mr. McCollum thought it 477 

would only be the first renewal and discussion ensued about the applicant coming to this Board 478 

for general discussion before going to the Planning Board for approval; Mr. McCollum said 479 

those licenses were approved within one week of the other. He noted the time it took to open the 480 

program was significant.  481 

 482 

Ms. Welsh asked the applicants to elaborate on the planned neighborhood meet-n-greets. Mr. 483 

Naomi said they had debated how to implement them because of issues with both state law and 484 

HIPPA preventing kids from being on property while they happen. So, the kids have to be away 485 

at an event during that time for people to come in and discuss how they can volunteer, donate, or 486 

work with the company at large––The Home for Little Wanderers––not just Unity House. The 487 

goal was to have the first meet-n-greet by the end of the year.  488 

 489 

Ms. Welsh thought the mission of Unity House was great and was glad it came to Keene. Mr. 490 

McCollum said the challenge in engaging the community when running a kid-serving program is 491 

always finding that balance between wanting to bring people in and not wanting to disrupt kids’ 492 

privacy. Generally, the organization tends to go to individuals, engaging and interacting more 493 

than having kids feel on parade in the facility, which he said oftentimes does not work, especially 494 

a whole room of teenagers, for example.  495 

 496 

Mr. Savastano asked if the goal was still four neighborhood meet-n-greets. Mr. McCollum said 497 

yes, citing the challenge that not many direct abutters were attending the meetings, so they 498 

started seeking ways to engage them differently, even just changing the date and time.  499 

 500 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 13 of 16 
 

Ms. Welsh asked if they had any trouble filling the House and Mr. McCollum said no. It is an 501 

eight-bed unit, and they were at seven or eight for some time. He noted that during a start-up 502 

year of a new program, it could take some time until the house is full of residents who help 503 

establish the ideal culture. Additionally, in NH at this time, there were very few Level 2 504 

programs like this, so Mr. McCollum cited a lot of push downs from higher levels of care trying 505 

to get those kids transitioned; he said those kids often were not ready for that step-down, creating 506 

a balancing act for Unity House to decide whether it is not the best fit and they should move on.  507 

 508 

Ms. Welsh asked if the applicant was impacted by any federal or state funding that they expected 509 

to be jeopardized. Mr. McCollum said no, they were in a similar situation as others, but cited 510 

questions about the state budget, what would happen if Medicaid/Medicare was cut, or proposed 511 

cuts to the Division of Children, Youth and Families (DCYF). He said the organization 512 

leadership was meeting monthly with DCYF and there was a lot of emphasis at this time on 513 

reducing the number of beds because of the residential costs, which was concerning for those 514 

running residences. He noted approximately 60–70 children in out-of-state care at this time 515 

(places like Arkansas and Illinois, for example) and stated a lot of emphasis on bringing them 516 

home to NH; a lot of the reason for opening this program and one in MA was to help bring more 517 

NH kids home every year. Ms. Welsh recalled that and said she was glad to have the 518 

organization in Keene. Mr. McCollum said it had been a wonderful community for Unity House.  519 

 520 

Vice Chair Kopczynski hoped they would continue testing out their important neighborhood 521 

meet-n-greets, even if they find they do not happen as often. If their outreach evolved, he asked 522 

if the applicant would bring a different Plan to the Board. Mr. McCollum said yes, they were 523 

always looking for the best approaches as they were developing and growing. At this time, they 524 

were building relationships with the various businesses, churches, and individuals living 525 

immediately around them––some of which he said wanted nothing to do with Unity House and 526 

others wanted a lot to do with them. So, he said the organization was taking a more individual 527 

approach as well as engaging with the larger community events like Keene Pride, which the 528 

young people were excited to participate in. Vice Chair Kopczynski asked how they were 529 

relating with the local churches. Mr. McCollum said community churches would do projects 530 

with Unity House and kids living at Unity House attended churches in the community. Ms. 531 

Welsh asked if Unity House engaged with the Monadnock Interfaith Project (MIP) and Mr. 532 

McCollum said no. Ms. Welsh recommended connecting.  533 

 534 

Mr. Savastano asked––knowing the neighborhood’s concerns of large vs. small group homes—if 535 

the House had stayed consistently at eight residents. Mr. McCollum said yes, and they had no 536 

intention of converting to a large group home at this time. If they did, they would go through the 537 

whole reapplication process. He noted there is an apartment in the facility that would be ideal for 538 

a staff person, but that would be nine people living there and would make it a large group home. 539 

Mr. Savastano asked if there was an overnight awake staff person and Mr. McCollum said yes, it 540 

operates 24/7/365.  541 

 542 



CLSS Meeting Minutes DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 14 of 16 

Discussion ensued briefly as Mr. Savastano asked about pages he thought might be missing from 543 

the application online. It was determined to be an internal City issue with the length of the files. 544 

Chair Oram recalled the application being lengthy and thorough the year prior and assumed they 545 

were only being provided with the changes. Ms. Welsh agreed it was the best application the 546 

Board had seen.  547 

548 

Mr. McCollum said they were always looking to change, learn, and grow, so they appreciated the 549 

opportunity in this community. Mr. Naomi shared, for example, that people training therapy dogs 550 

had visited to practice with the kids. Unity House was also working on internships with Jacks 551 

Crackers. He thought a lot of the outreach had morphed into how to get the kids into the 552 

community vs. getting the community into the House to feel like a more natural experience. It 553 

was an interesting idea to Chair Oram that in this particular case, neighborhood outreach might 554 

be less important than community integration. Mr. McCollum thought it would have to be both—555 

stating it is important to relate well with neighbors and for the kids to understand what it is like 556 

living in the world vs. inside a program.  557 

558 

Vice Chair Kopczynski thought these Ordinances were written very deliberately to incorporate 559 

mechanisms for enough communication and community integration, stating that if all these uses 560 

were clustered in one location it would not be good for anything; they work better when they are 561 

integrated into the community at large. Mr. McCollum agreed. Mr. McCollum stated a larger 562 

challenge for The Home of Little Wanderers in the whole State of NH (and everywhere they 563 

were doing business) was more and more communities closing down areas for programs like this 564 

to operate, restricting the uses to smaller cordoned areas (e.g., downtowns and urban centers less 565 

ideal for kids). While he cited the lovely Downtown District in Keene—where kids can walk 566 

down the street, interact with the community, and look for a job—he thought it was much 567 

different than the one in Manchester, NH, for example.  568 

569 

It struck Chair Oram that Unity House’s clientele is learning to be a part of the community and 570 

would be depending on institutional resources within the community to do so, like the public 571 

education system. He heard the point it was not either–or, but it felt to Chair Oram the very 572 

nature of Unity House’s work made the focus different than the typical Congregate Living and 573 

Social Services Neighborhood Plan; he wanted that in the record as an important distinction for 574 

the future in recognizing what the facility does. Mr. McCollum appreciated that, noting the goal 575 

is to always help these children get out of state custody. He said families are better at raising kids 576 

than systems are, so trying to keep them out, get them home, or integrating them into the 577 

community on their own would always be the goal.   578 

579 

Mr. Wood noted the Community Development Department had recently hosted and participated 580 

in some community meetings, during which there was unsolicited feedback, recalling that when 581 

this facility opened people were unsure what to think about it. However, following all the 582 

outreach, everyone said they had nothing but positives to say about how it had integrated into the 583 

neighborhood.  584 

585 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 15 of 16 
 

Chair Oram opened the floor to public comments.  586 

 587 

Autumn Nall of Summer Street, a direct abutter, said she had nothing but positive things to say 588 

about the facility, noting the residents would always throw the ball back over the fence for kids.  589 

 590 

In response to Ms. Welsh, Mr. McCollum confirmed that The Home for Little Wanderers is the 591 

organization, and Unity House is the specific property.   592 

 593 

Chair Oram closed the Public Hearing.  594 

 595 

The Board considered the three criteria for approving the application.  596 

 597 

The licensing board shall consider the following criteria when evaluating whether to approve, 598 

renew, or deny a congregate living and social services license application. 599 

 600 

Criteria 1: The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 601 

plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life safety 602 

codes. 603 

 604 

A motion by Ms. Welsh to find that Criteria 1 was met was duly seconded by Mr. Savastano and 605 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  606 

 607 

Criteria 2: The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration 608 

that adversely affects the surrounding area. 609 

 610 

A motion by Mr. Savastano to find that Criteria 2 was met was duly seconded by Ms. Welsh and 611 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  612 

 613 

Criteria 3: The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 614 

pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 615 

 616 

A motion by Ms. Welsh to find that Criteria 3 was met was duly seconded by Mr. Savastano and 617 

the motion carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0.  618 

 619 

A motion by Ms. Welsh was duly seconded by Mr. Savastano to approve CLSS-2O25-15 620 

for Unity House to operate as a Small Group Home located at 39 Summer Street. The motion 621 

carried unanimously on a vote of 4–0. 622 

 623 

V. New Business: 624 

 625 

None was presented.  626 

 627 

VI. Non-Public Session: (if required) 628 



CLSS Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

May 27, 2025 

Page 16 of 16 
 

VII. Adjournment: 629 

 630 

There being no further business, Chair Oram adjourned the meeting at 7:12 PM. 631 

 632 

Respectfully submitted by, 633 

Katryna Kibler, Minute Taker 634 

May 31, 2025 635 

 636 

Reviewed and edited by, 637 

Corinne Marcou, Board Clerk q is significantly different than the 638 



Page intentionally left blank



CLSS STAFF REPORT 
 

CLSS-2025-17 – Homeless Shelter – Southwest Community Services, Inc. – 139 Roxbury St. 
 
Request: 

Applicant, Beth Daniels, CEO, requests a license for a Homeless Shelter at the property located at 
139 Roxbury St. and is in the Downtown Transition District.  
 
Background: 

Southwest Community Services (SCS) is a Community Action Program that has been serving the 
Cheshire County community since 1965. They offer a variety of community services including 
Housing Stabilization Services. 
 
This is their fourth CLSS renewal sought by SCS for the 139 Roxbury St. property. 
 
Completeness: 

The property at 139 Roxbury Street is seeking their fourth renewal. No changes have been made 
to their documentation. Staff find their application to be complete and have been paid in full. 
 
Inspections: 
 

City Staff inspection was completed on July 30, 2025. 
 
Departmental Comments: 

            Property & Housing: It’s noted that the need to repair the exterior stairs, stringers and 
railing as do the railings and the porch decking. Chipping paint and bare wood be 
painted prior to next year’s inspection. 

            Fire Department: No comments 

            Police Department: No comments  

 

Criteria Review: 

1) The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 
plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life 
safety codes. 

2) The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration that 
adversely affects the surrounding area. 

3) The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 
pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 

Recommended Motion:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Move to approve CLSS-2025-17 for the Southwestern Community Services homeless shelter 
located at 139 Roxbury Street. 

 



City of Keene 
 

3 Washington Street New Hampshire 03431 
 

Congregate Living & Social Services Licensing Inspection Checklist 

Name of Organization: Southwestern Community Services 

Address of Property: 139 Roxbury St 

1) Exterior N/A 

Notes: Look into painting areas that are chipping paint or bare wood before next year’s inspection 
 

2) Hallways/Stairwells N/A 

Notes: Immediate need- exterior stairs, stringers, and railing need to be replaced. Railing and 
decking on porch need to be replaced as well. Permit will be needed to complete this work 

3) Storage/Closets N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

4) Bathrooms N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

5) Basement/Attic N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

6) Kitchen/Food Prep Area N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

7) Bedrooms/ Classrooms N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

8) Common Areas N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

9) Offices N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

10) Electrical Systems N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

11) Heating System N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

12)  

Notes:  
 

Date of Inspection: 7/30/2025 Inspector: Ryan Lawliss 

 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 



CLSS-2025-17
6/19/2025

CJM
1 4

569-098-000
High Density

For Office Use Only: 

City of Keene, NH 
Case No. -----
Date Filled ___ _ 
Rec'd By ____ _ 

Congregate Living & Social Services 
License Application 

Page __ of __ _ 
Tax Map# _____ _ 
Zoning District: ____ _ 

If you have questions on how to complete this form, please call: (603) 352-5440 or email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov 

SECTION 1: LICENSE TYPE 

Q Drug Treatment Center 

Q Fraternity/Sorority 

0 Group Home, Small 

0 Group Resource Center 

0 Homeless Shelter 

0 Lodging House 

Q Group Home, Large 0 Residential Drug/Alcohol Treatment Facility 0 Residential Care Facility 

SECTION 2: PROPERTY LOCATION 

ADDREss: 139 Roxbury St 

SECTION 3: CONTACT INFORMATION 
I hereby certify that I am the owner, applicant, or the authorized agent of the owner of the property upon which this approva I is sought 

and that all information provided by me is true under penalty of law. If applicant or authorized agent, a signed notification from the prop 
erty owner is required. 

OWNER 

NAME/COMPANY: 
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. 

MAILING ADDRESS: 
P.O. Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE: (603) 352-7512 
EMAIL: bdaniels@scshelps.org 
s1GNATURE: Beth 

Daniels 

Digitally signed by 
Beth Daniels 
Date: 2025.06.09 
15:13:54 -04'00' 

DATE: 

PRINTED NAME: B th D . I TITLE: e an1e s cEo 

AUTHORIZED AGENT 
(if different than Owner/Applicant) 

NAME/COMPANY: /S c · s · Margaret Freeman outhwestem ommurnty erv1ces 

MAILING ADDRESS: 
P.O. Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE:(6O3) 352-7512 
EMAIL: mfreeman@scshelps.org 
SIGNATURE· Margaret D Digitally signed by DATE· 

• Margaret D Freeman • 

Freeman ~;,1~~,;~
21~-~;.0 6/10/2025 

PRINTED NAME:M t F argare reeman 
TITLE: 

CFO 

APPLICANT 

NAME/COMPANY: 
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. 

MAILING ADDRESS: 
P.O. Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE: (603) 352-7512 
EMAIL=bdaniels@scshelps.org 
SIGNATURE: Beth Digitally signed by 

Beth Daniels 

D · I Date: 2025.06.09 arne s 1s:14:12 -04•00· 

PRINTED NAME: B th D . I e anIe s 

DATE: 

TITLE: 

CEO 

OPERATOR/ MANAGER 
(Point of 24-hour contact, if different than Owner/Applicant) 

Qame as owner 

NAME/COMPANY: Lore DeForsUSouthwestern Community Services 

MAILING ADDRESS: P.O. Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE: (603) 209-0251 

EMAIL: ldeforest@scshelps.org 
SIGNATURE· Lore Digitally signed by DATE· 

• Lore DeForest • 

DeForest ~;,~~,~~21~-~;.0 6/10/25 
PRINTED NAME: L D F t TITLE: 

ore e ores CEP Manager 

Page 1 of 4 



SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

A complete application must include the following items and submitted by one of the options below: 

• Email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov, with "CLSS License Application" in the subject line 

• Mail/ Hand Deliver: 
Community Development (4th Floor) 

Keene City Hall, 
3 Washington St, Keene, NH 03431 

The submittal requirements for a Congregate Living & Social Services License application are outlined further in 
Chapter 46, Article X of the City of Keene Code of Ordinances. 

Note: Additional information may be requested to complete the review of the application. 

(!) PROPERTY OWNER: LJ POINT OF 24 HOUR CONTACT: 
Name, phone number and address Name, phone number, and address of person acting as 

the operator, if not owner Same as owner 

U REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION: Q wRITTEN NARRATIVE: 
Provide all required state or federal licenses, permits and cer- Provide necessary information to the submittal requirements 
tifications 

1/ROPERTY INFORMATION: 
Description of the property location including street address 
and tax map parcel number 

l):oMPLETED INSPECTION: or 
Inspection date: ______ _ 

V APPLICABLE FEES: 
$165.00 application 
(checks made payable to City of Keene) 

l)sCHEDULED INSPECTION: 
Inspection date: ______ _ 

Q oPERATIONs AND MANAGEMENT PLAN: U toCATION MAP: 
Plan based on the industry standard "Best Management 
Practices" to include: 

◊ Security Plan 

◊ Life Safety Plan 
◊ Staff Training and Procedures Plan 
◊ Health and Safety Plan 
◊ Emergency Response Plan 
o Neighborhood Relations Plan 

◊ Building and Site Maintenance Procedures 

In addition, Homeless Shelters will provide: 

◊ Rules of Conduct, Registration System and Screening Procedures 

◊ Access Policies and Procedures 

Page 2 of 4 



SECTION 4: APPLICATION AND LICENSE RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS 
Using additional sheets if needed, briefly describe your responses to each criteria: 

1. Description of the client population to be served, including a description of the services provided to the cli­
ents or residents of the facility and of any support or personal care services provided on or off site. 

Emergency Shelter Services will provide services for clients representing themselves as homeless regardless of age, race, 
color, religion, creed, sexual preference, gender, gender identification, familial status, or disabling condition. 

People experiencing homelessness will have their basic needs met in a safe environment, with a safe and clean place to 
sleep that is off the streets. 

Emergency Shelter Services will include access to personal care items, clothing, showers, laundry and food. Clients will be 
offered a housing focused case plan and provided ongoing case management services which will monitor progress towards 
housing goals. 

These case plans will prioritize housing and focus on housing applications, obtaining state and federal benefits, employment 
income if applicable, and collecting all verification that may be required by housing providers. 

Clients will be provided access to education classes provided by SCS and community partners. We will provide various 
educational opportunities, our focus will be Tenancy 101, Life Skills, and Financial literacy. These classes are specifically 
designed to increase our clients financial and housing stability. 

All services provided in our emergency shelter program will adhere-to the proven results of low barrier, housing first model 
within a trauma informed care environment. 

2. Description of the size and intensity of the facility, including information about; the number of occupants, 
including residents, clients staff, visitors, etc.; maximum number of beds or persons that may be served by the 
facility; hours of operations, size and scale of buildings or structures on the site; and size of outdoor areas asso­
ciated with the use. 

139 Roxbury Street is a single building with approximately 2614 square feet of living space and sits on 
a .23 acre lot with approximately 3889 square feet of lawn. 

The building has a full eat in kitchen and 2 full baths and a half bath, a living room, an office, and five 
bedrooms with an on-site laundry area. 

The building at maximum capacity will serve 18 clients. While the capacity fluctuates on a day-to-day 
basis, the facility typically maintains 95% or more of ts maximum capacity. 

The building's one office space is utilized by one staff member who is mostly on-site. SCS does not allow 
visitors to our facilities due to confidentiality concerns, but will allow community partners to meet with 
clients as long as protocols are followed. SCS provides staff coverage from 8:30am-4:30pm and all 
buildings have a contact tree for off hours in case of an emergency. 

Page 3 of 4 



SECTION 4: APPLICATION AND LICENSE RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS CONTINUED 
Using additional sheets if needed, briefly describe your responses to each criteria: 

3. For Congregate Living Uses, describe the average length of stay for residents/occupants of the facility. 

Southwestern Community Services relies on a New Hampshire's Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS) to track client information. Using the reports form the system using a time-frame of one 
year beginning on September 1, 2023 we found that all exiting clients had stayed an average of 95 days 
while all clients who remained in the shelter had stayed and average of 124 days. 

Page 4 of 4 



Page intentionally left blank



CLSS STAFF REPORT 
 

CLSS-2025-18 – Homeless Shelter – Southwestern Community Services, Inc. – 32 Water St. 
 
Request: 

Applicant Beth Daniels, CEO, requests a license for a Homeless Shelter at the property located at 
32 Water Street and is in the Downtown-Transition Zoning District.  
 
Background: 

Southwestern Community Services (SCS) is a Community Action Program that has been serving 
the Cheshire County Community since 1965. They offer a variety of community services including 
Housing Stabilization Services.  
 
This is the fourth CLSS renewal sought by SCS for the 32 Water Street property.  
  
Completeness: 

The property at 32 Water Street is seeking their fourth renewal. No changes have been made to 
their documentation. Staff find their application to be complete. 
 
Inspections: 
 
Community Development’s inspection was completed on July 30, 2025 
 
Departmental Comments: 

            Property & Housing:  Flooring in high traffic areas, in both units, will need to be monitored 
as there are peeling sections. 

            Fire Department: No Comments 

            Police Department: No Comments 

 

Criteria Review: 

1) The use is found to be in compliance with the submitted operations and management 
plan, including but not limited to compliance with all applicable building, fire, and life 
safety codes. 

2) The use is of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or vibration that 
adversely affects the surrounding area. 

3) The use does not produce public safety or health concerns in connection with traffic, 
pedestrians, public infrastructure, and police or fire department actions. 

Recommended Motion:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Move to approve CLSS-2025-18 for the Southwestern Community Services homeless shelter 
located at 32 Water Street. 



City of Keene 
 

3 Washington Street New Hampshire 03431 
 

 

Congregate Living & Social Services Licensing Inspection Checklist 

Name of Organization: Southwestern Community Services 

Address of Property: 32 Water St 

1) Exterior N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

2) Hallways/Stairwells N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

3) Storage/Closets N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

4) Bathrooms N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

5) Basement/Attic N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

6) Kitchen/Food Prep Area N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

7) Bedrooms/ Classrooms N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

8) Common Areas N/A 

Notes: Flooring in common areas in both units will need to be monitored closely as it is starting to 
peel up in areas of high traffic. 

9) Offices N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

10) Electrical Systems N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

11) Heating System N/A 

Notes: N/A 
 

12)  

Notes:  
 

Date of Inspection: 7/30/2025 Inspector: Ryan Lawliss 

 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 



CLSS-2025-18
6/19/2025
CJM

1 4
585-016-000

DT-Transition

For Office Use Onlv: 

City of Keene, NH 
Case No. ___ _ 
Date Filled ___ _ 

Rec'd By ___ _ 

Congregate Living & Social Services 
License Application 

Page __ of __ 
Tax Map# _ ___ _ _ 

Zoning District: 

If you have questions on how to complete this form, please call: (603} 352-5440 or email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov 

SECTION 1: LICENSE TYPE 
I 

0 Drug Treatment Center 

0 Fraternity/Sorority 

0 Group Home, Small 

0 Group Resource Center 

@ Homeless Shelter 

Q Lodging House 

Q Group Home, Large 0 Residential Drug/Alcohol Treatment Facility 0 Residential Care Facility 

SECTION 2: PROPERTY LOCATION 

ADDREss: 32 Water Street Keene NH 
SECTION 3: CONTACT INFORMATION 

I hereby certify that I am the owner, applicant, or the authorized agent of the owner of the property upon which this approval is sought 

and that all information provided by me is true under penalty of law. If applicant or authorized agent, a signed notification from the prop 

erty owner is required. 

OWNER APPLICANT 

NAME/COMPANY: NAME/COMPANY: 
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. Southwestern Community Services, Inc. 

MAILING ADDRESS: PO Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 MAILING ADDRESS: PO Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE: (603) 352-7512 PHONE: (603) 352-7512 

EMAIL: bdaniels@scshelps.org EMAIL:bdaniels@scshelps.org 
s1GNATURE: Beth 

Daniels 

PRINTED NAME= Beth 

Digitally signed by DATE·, 
Beth Daniels 
Date: 2025.06.09 
15: 12:30 ·04'00' 

Daniels~~~ 

AUTHORIZED AGENT 

(if different than Owner/Applicant) 

NAME/coMPANY: Margaret Freeman/SGS 

SIGNATURE: Beth ~~~~~~~i~l;ed by DATE: 

D · I Date: 2025.06.09 
anie s 1s:12,s1 .04•00· 

PRINTED NAME: B th D . I e an1e s 
TITLE: 
CEO 

OPERATOR/ MANAGER 

(Point of 24-hour contact, if different than Owner/Applicant) 

Dame as owner 

NAME/COMPANY: Lore DeForest/SGS 

MAILINGADDRESS:PO Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 MAILING ADDRESS: PO Box 603 Keene NH 03431-0603 

PHONE:(603) 352-7512 PHONE:(6O3) 209-0251 

EMAIL: mfreeman@scshelps.org EMAIL: ldforest@scshelps.org 
SIGNATURE· Margaret D Digitally signed by DATE· 

' Margaret D Freeman ' 
SIGNATURE: Lore Digitally signed by DATE: 

Lore DeForest 

Freeman ~t,\e~::2!~;.0 6/10/2025 DeForest Date: 2025.06.10 6/1 Q/25 
13:46:35 -04'00' 

PRINTED NAME: M t F argare reeman 
TITLE: 

CFO 
PRINTED NAME: L D F t ore e ores 

TITLE: 

CEP Manager 

Page I of 4 



SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

A complete application must include the following items and submitted by one of the options below: 

• Email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov, with "CL55 License Application" in the subject line 

• Mail / Hand Deliver: 
Community Development {4th Floor) 

Keene City Hall, 
3 Washington St, Keene, NH 03431 

The submittal requirements for a Congregate Living & Social Services License application are outlined further in 
Chapter 46, Article X of the City of Keene Code of Ordinances. 

Note: Additional information may be requested to complete the review of the application. 

LJ PROPERTY OWNER: U POINT OF 24 HOUR CONTACT: 
Name, phone number and address Name, phone number, and address of person acting as 

the operator, if not owner Same as owner 

Q REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION: l)WRITTEN NARRATIVE: 
Provide all required state or federal licenses, permits and cer- Provide necessary information to the submittal requirements 
tifications 

U ROPERTY INFORMATION: 
Description of the property location including street address 
and tax map parcel number 

l):oMPLETED INSPECTION: or 
Inspection date: ______ _ 

U APPLICABLE FEES: 
$165.00 application 
(checks made payable to City of Keene) 

l)sCHEDULED INSPECTION: 
Inspection date: ______ _ 

Q oPERATIONS AND MANAGEMENT PLAN: U toCATION MAP: 
Plan based on the industry standard "Best Management 
Practices" to include: 

◊ Security Plan 
◊ Life Safety Plan 
◊ Staff Training and Procedures Plan 
◊ Health and Safety Plan 
◊ Emergency Response Plan 
◊ Neighborhood Relations Plan 
◊ Building and Site Maintenance Procedures 

In addition, Homeless Shelters will provide: 

◊ Rules of Conduct, Registration System and Screening Procedures 
◊ Access Policies and Procedures 

Page 2 of 4 



SECTION 4: APPLICATION AND LICENSE RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS 
Using additional sheets if needed, briefly describe your responses to each criteria: 

1. Description of the client population to be served, including a description of the services provided to the cli­
ents or residents of the facility and of any support or personal care services provided on or off site. 

Emergency Shelter Services will provide services for clients representing themselves as homeless regardless of age, race, 
color, religion, creed, sexual preference, gender, gender identification, familial status, or disabling condition. 

People experiencing homelessness will have their basic needs met in a safe environment, with a safe and clean place to 
sleep that is off the streets. 

Emergency Shelter Services will include access to personal care items, clothing, showers, laundry and food. Clients will be 
offered a housing focused case plan and provided ongoing case management services which will monitor progress towards 
housing goals. 

These case plans will prioritize housing and focus on housing applications, obtaining state and federal benefits, employment 
income if applicable, and collecting all verification that may be required by housing providers. 

Clients will be provided access to education classes provided by SGS and community partners. We will provide various 
educational opportunities, our focus will be Tenancy 101, Life Skills, and Financial literacy. These classes are specifically 
designed to increase our clients financial and housing stability. 

All services provided in our emergency shelter program will adhere-to the proven results of low barrier, housing first model 
within a trauma informed care environment. 

2. Description of the size and intensity of the facility, including information about; the number of occupants, 
including residents, clients staff, visitors, etc.; maximum number of beds or persons that may be served by the 
facility; hours of operations, size and scale of buildings or structures on the site; and size of outdoor areas asso­
ciated with the use. 

32 Water Street is a duplex with 2638 square feet of living space and sits on a .2 acre lot with ! 
approximately 3397 square feet of lawn. 

The first unit on the Water Street side, has a full kitchen and 2 full baths, a living room, a dining room, an 
office, and four bedrooms with an on-site laundry area. 

The second unit, in the back of the building, has an eat in kitchen, living room, two bedrooms, and one 
bathroom. The unit also has an on-site laundry area. 

The building at maximum capacity will serve 23 clients. While the capacity fluctuates on a day-to-day 
basis, the facility typically maintains 90% or more of ts maximum capacity. 

The front unit of the building contains 17 beds with the rear apartment having 6 beds. 

The building's one office space is utilized by one staff member who is mostly on-site. SGS does not allow 
visitors to our facilities due to confidentiality concerns, but will allow community partners to meet with 
clients as long as protocols are followed. SGS provides staff coverage from 8:30am-4:30pm and all 
buildings have a contact tree for off hours in case of an emergency. 

Page 3 of 4 



SECTION 4: APPLICATION AND LICENSE RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS CONTINUED 
Using additional sheets if needed, briefly describe your responses to each criteria: 

3. For Congregate Living Uses, describe the average length of stay for residents/occupants of the facility. 

Southwestern Community Services relies on a New Hampshire's Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS) to track client information. Using the reports form the system using a time-frame of one 
year beginning on September 1, 2023 we found that all exiting clients had stayed an average of 95 days 
while all clients who remained in the shelter had stayed and average of 124 days. 

Page 4 of 4 


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



